The development of the Northfield Laboratories and Research Centre

By J.C. Radcliffe

SINCE the turn of the century the Department of Agri-
culture has conducted research centres and farms
throughout South Australia. Those at Parafield, Kyby-
bolite, Turretfield, and Minnipa are the earliest that are
still in use. There have been other experimental farms
and orchards at Booborowie, Berri, and Blackwood. Unti)
the 1960s, however, the Department of Agriculture had
never owned any ceniral research laboratories.

This was partly a result of the .establishment of the
Waite Agricultural Research Instilule at Glen Osmond
by the University of Adelaide in 1924, following a gift
of land by Mr Peter Waite to the University in 1913.
For many years the South Australian Government gave
financial support t0 the Waite Agricultural Research
Institute which in return undertook 1o provide specific
services to the Department of Agriculiure in a number
of fields, including entomology and plant pathology.

In the years immedialtely after the Second World War,
the South Australian Department of Agriculture was
housed both 1n the old Education Building and in
Crompton Building in Flinders Street. It later occupied
three floors of Simpson’s Building in Gawler Place. a
building which A. Simpson & Sons had previously used
as a factory for the production of cast-jron wood stoves.
The building included an area adapted for use as an
elemeniary soils laboratory where samples from fallow
trials throughout the State were processed. There was
also a dairy laboratory and a small herbage drying and
sorting roon.

Simple research equipment was stored in the basement
for use in unsophisticated plot trials which were con-
ducted mainly in the Adelaide Hills. The easiest access
was via a goods lift and straight out the front doors of
the building, past incoming clients, to vehicles parked
at the Gawler Place kerb.

THE SELECTION OF NORTHFIELD

For some years Dr (later Sir) Allan Callaghan, as the
Director of Agriculture, sought the opportunity of devel-
oping central research facilities for the Department of
Agriculture. Such an opportunity arose in September
1957 when the Premier of South Australia (Hon. Thomas
Playford) announced that, because of the rapidly falling
incidence of tuberculosis, the Bedford Park Sanitorium
was 10 be closed.! Within a few days Dr Callaghan had
proposed that Bedford Park should become a Depart-
ment of Agriculture research centre.? The Hospials
Department, however. suggested that the Sanitorium
might be used as a third mental institution for Adelaide.

Dr Callaghan subsequenily reviewed the possible use of
the Northfield Mental Hospital Farm and, although he
preferred the Bedford Park site, recommended that it
should be considered as an alternauve.’

In May 1958 the Premier, the Chief Secretary (Hon.
Lyell McEwin), and Dr Callaghan visited the Nortnfield
farm. Shortly afterwards Cabinet approval was given for
the site 10 become the new Department of Agriculture
research centre.! The Flinders University of South Aus-
tralia was later built on the Bedford Park site.

The Northfield land included a property purchased
from Leopold Conrad in 1917 for £38 an acre, partly
*to be divided into half acre or acre blocks for soldiers
or widows of soldiers who want sufficient land to keep
a cow and a few pouliry to add 10 thejr income’,* and
Erskine Lodge, a property purchased from Johnny and
Sarah Hannah Williams of Daisy Hill, near Oakbank,
for £34 17s 6d an acre in 1917 for the site of a mental
hospital.®

PLANNING THE LABORATORY

The Wheat Industry Research Committee of South
Aus(ralia offered to contribute levy funds, provided by
wheat growers from the newly proclaimed Wheat Tax
Act, 1957, towards the construction of a wheat research
laboratory, to be used in perpetuity by the South Aus-
tralian Government.” A standard modular high-school
building was proposed, modelled on the newly com-
pleted Findon High School.

The Minister of Agriculture (Hon. David Brookman)
proposed that the entire Adelaide-based staff of the
Department of Agriculture should be transferred to
Northfield.® Calculations showed that two high schools
would be required,” and the proposal did not proceed
further in this form.

Messrs P.M. Barrow, E.D. Caner, and A.J. Beare, of
the Department of Agriculture, prepared specific sugges-
tions for research and administrative facilities. The
Architect-in-Chief’s Department translated these into
proposals for two buildings 10 accommodate research
laboratories for wheat and livestock-based research and
for administration, and a barn and facilities for an arti-
ficial breeding centre, at an estimated cost of 7s 3d a
cubic foot, totalling £398 000.'° In ensuing negotiations
the project was reduced 10 the laboratory proposals for
a single building, and the estimated costs were lowered
to £157 000. Cabinet approval to proceed was given in
July 196]." The Wheat Industry Research Commitiee
of Scuth Australia agreed to contribute £44 500 10 the
project and the Wheat Research Council £8000.'2

Dr John Radchifte, who is Ditector-General of Agrniculiure, was appointed a
Dairy Research Oficer to Northficld within a few days of i(s opentng in 1965,
H¢ was Officer-in-Charge of the Northfic)d Rescarch Centre from 1973 10 1978.

Y South Australian Partiemeniary Debates, 25 September 1957,
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TRANSFER OF NORTHFIELD IFARM

Mcanwhile, the Department ot Agriculture had been
negotiating 10 assume responsibility for the Northfield
Mental Hospital Farm. The area was encompasscd in
par(s of Sections 318, 319, 320, 496. 498, 499, and 740
of (he Hundred of Yatala.'? Portion of Section 498, on
the corner of Grand Junction Road and Blacks Road.
was reserved as the new sie for the Mounted Police
Barracks.'* (hough the area was ulumately used for the
Gilles Plains Animal Research Cenire of the Institure of
Medical and Velerinary Science.® wivich was in turn
transferred o the Department of Agriculture in 19821
A further 70 acres (28 ha) of the same section was
reserved “for a Colony for the intellectually sub-normal®?
and became the site of Surathmont Centre.

An invenlory had established that Northfield farm
emploved seven men, and had four horses, 134 cattle,
sixty-seven sheep. and 708 pigs.”* a Case tracior. several
motor vechicles. and *numerous drays'.

The Department of Agriculture found (hat no records
had been kept of the stud Suflolk sheep tor four ycars,
and recommended (heir disposal. The dairy cattle were
of “very mixed breed’ and were Lo be "culled to the limit
permitted by production commitments’. The piggery was:

oo osuch a didapidated condition that its 1otal replacement s
necessary. Type is variable from good (o bad. repistrations have
been neglecied (or four years, nutrition s excessive and unbal-
anced. . . Although hygienc s non-existent. housrop 1s warm and
the herd s surprisingly free from disease symptoms on casual
mspection. 'V

The Depariment of Agriculture assumed responsibility
for the operation of Northfield farm from | Janvarv
1963. Mr Brian R. White was appointed Dairy Research
Officer. with initial responsibility, and Mr Brian W.
(Bill") Bussell, formerly Piggery and Dairy Superintend-
ent at Roseworthy Agricultural College, was appointed
Officer-in-Charge soon afterwards. All sheep and pigs
were disposed of as soon as possible, and the establish-
ment of a research dairy herd was made the first priority.

COMPLETION OF THE LABORATORIES

On | Oclober 1964 staff moved into the new North-
field Laboratories. which were officially opened by the
Premier of South Australia, Sir Thomas Playford. on 26
Januvary 1965.* The laboratories housed rescarch and
technical staft’ working in the Agronomy. Soils. Dairy.
and Horniculture branches of the Department. The facil-
ities were a revolulionary advance for the staft. Addi-
tional funds had been obtained for the purchase of
modern equipment thal provided an excellent technical
base on which 1o establish research. Additional ilems,
such as a Technicon auto analyser and X-ray soil dif-
frachion equipment, were bought with funds in following
years.
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FACILITIES FOR DAIRY RESEARCH

As a prelude to establishing dairy research. the enlire
boundary fencing of the Northficld property was replaced,
and a plan was developed for nineteen experimental
paddocks with an identical area of 10 acres (4 ha). Lime-
stabilized laneways dressed with quarry rubble were built
10 provide all-weather access for stock and vehicles (0
the paddocks. (Svon afier assuming conirol, the Depart-
menl had had the unpleasant experience of having all
of s Northfield 1ractors and vehicles bogged almost
irretrievably in the heavy black soils following substan-
nal midwinter rains.) The fences were erecied. virtually
single-handed. by Mr A.W. (‘Nugget’) Hill who laboured
long and hard 10 complete the project before his retire-
ment.

A new research dairy, on massive pier-and-beam foun-
dations, was built on a site off Folland Avenue. Labo-
ralories werc provided near by for dairy genetics and
milk chemistry research staff. and cxperimental cattle
yards and a feed shed were built later. Following two
disastrous haystack fires whose origins were generally
ascribed to chenis of an adjacent institution, lhree new
haysheds were built at diffcrent locations on the farm.
Each was protected by a security fence whose design had
been recommended by neighbouring colleagues from
Yatala Labour Prison.*' The hospital herd was converted
to a programme of artificial breeding. the aim being to
produce a grade Friesian herd with reasonable genelic
homogeneity in order to increasc (he probability of
detecling significant management treatment differences.
The principal sires used were Vynetle Fond Hope King
and Anama Mars Jasper—Dboth offered by the Artificial
Breeding Board of South Australia which was by then
cstablished in its new facilities on the north-western
corner of the Northfield site.

[n later years specific facilities were ¢stablished for
calf-rearing rescarch. dairy beef feedlot experiments,
compensatory growth comparisons, and feedstufl diges-
tibility trials, A new research centre office was erected.
Farm s1aff rebuilt the original hospital dairy in Pine
Drive from a walk-through 10 a modern herringbone
design so that research work could be carried out in two
separalce locations. The Grand Junction Road complex,
which had previously been used for the aruficial breed-
ing centre, was later redeveloped as a dairy technology
laboratory and a pilot-scale dairy factory was installed
there.

NORTHFIELD PIG RESEARCH UNIT

Following amendments 10 (he Swine Compensation
Act. 1962. which provided an annual sum of £2500 for
the operation of a research piggery at Northfield, a new
site, ncar Grand Junction Road. was selected for devel-
opment.* The complex was designed with two compo-
nents. After protracted design negotiations, a production

1Y Memorg=dun, Superntezacut of Meatal Insinunons 1o Dircctor-Gener L
of Medicil Services 17 June 1938 (DIGTT 824,3Y)

N Minuwe, Architectin=Chiet to Mimisier af \Works. 22 June 1989 {DIGH 824/
39,

'S Minuie, Chicf Seeretany o Acting Minnter o Lands 13 July 1961 (DIGH
824/39).

16 Ynstitute of Medical and Veterinary Science Act, 1982

17 Minute. Director-General of Medical Services 10 Director-General of Agar-
culture. 23 September 1961 (DA 190739 PDIGHT 824/739).

18 NMemorandum. Superintendent of Mcntal Institutions 1o Director-General
of Medical Services, 8 October 1958,

12 Undated report on Norihfield farm (DA 190/39).
0 Arrangements for official opuning, Northlicld Laboratories (DA 871/44).

21 Details of construction are in the following sources: dain—DA 636/63: feed
shed—DA 690/67: cattle yards—DA 2354/70.

2 Report by Chiel Inspector of Stock. 16 May 1963 (DA 464/63).
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unit on semi-commercial lines was erccled: it contained
farrowing units, a production shed, a mating uni, and
a small office. An isolation unil, some distance from
the production unit, allowed for research into specific
pig diseases. A recognized local piggery builder, Pig Equip
of Murray Bridge, constructed the unit at a total cost of
$97 470.2 The design included strict quarantine provi-
sions which allowed the unit to be run as a minimal-
disease piggery. The first pigs arrived in November 1970,
the basic genetic matertal coming from Wonga Piggery
in Queensland. Virtvally all subsequent mtroductions
have been by hysterectomy. The production unit was
expanded with a further grower shed in 1978.7¢ Physio-
logical research was initiated with the installation of a
hot room in 1978. A major complex for pig physiology
research and addiuonal office accommodation were pro-
vided in 1982.2 All Adelaide-based pig research and
extension stafl have been at Norlhfield since 1983.

The Northfield Pig Research Unit has been managed
since its inception by Mr Paul Heap. Industry has been
closely associated with the development of the unit
through the Northfield Pig Liaison Committee. The
foundation producer members were Mr Jim McAuliffe
(whose father had managed (he Northfield Mental Hos-
pital Farm in the 1930s), Mr Lance Dawkins, and Mr
Colin Lienert.

3 Completion report. payment vertlteaie, 7 August 1972 (DA 464/63).
DA 143/74,
25 PA 1367/74 and Report of Parliamentany Standing Committee on Public

Works on Depariment ol Agriculture (Pig Physiology Unit at Northficld).
Sonth Aunstrahan Parliumentary Papers 157/1980,

Above left: Some of the facilities available on the farm section of the
NorthGield Research Centre in 1964.

Above right: This small potting shed was used for plant quarantine
work.

Left: The shed was later replaced with this more modern shed and
glasshouse.

HORTICULTURE UNIT

A separate isolated horticultural unit was esiablished
at Northfield in 1966 as a recognized guarantine station
for the receipt of new plant introductions. The first
components of the Horticullure Estate, established by
Dr R.J. (‘Rip’) van Velsen, were two glasshouses for
virus-free polato and vine introductions. and a small
potting-shed which the staff had constructed out of a
prefabricated garage. Later, a larger potting-shed. with
soil-sterilizing and mixing facilities and two attached
laboratories. was built over the original shed which was
then dismantled from within the new bujlding. In 1978
Commonwealth funds enabled four large new quaran-
line glasshouses to be added to the complex, 10 keep
pace with the demand for additional introductions of
new horticultura) material.

An adjunct 10 the horucultural facilities was the erec-
uon in 1975 of a cool-store complex containing ten
separately controlled constant-temperature rooms for
post-harvest fruit-handling research.

CONTINUED DEVELOPMENT OF NORTHFIELD
LABORATORIES

Meanwhile, more Rural Industry Research Funds
became available as a result of increased funding con-
tributions by producers. Additional Commonwealth and
State funds also became available for further staff
appointments in the mid-1960s and the 1970s, thereby
increasing pressure on the accommodation capacity of
the Northfield Laboratories. A succession of senior off)-
cers, including Messrs Peter Barrow and Reg French,




and Drs Rip van Velsen and Doug Reuter. were able 10
secure additional temporary buildings to accommodate
more staff.

Initially. four prefabricated former double school-
rooms were delivered to the site. Some came in com-
pletely knocked-down form. others came fully assembled.
One needed the assistance of four farm (raclors (o get
it correctly placed.** These were followed by two Samcon
demoumable buildings, four transportables erecied for
the work of the Aphid Task Force in the late 1970s.and
two more transportables erected in 1983 {0 accommo-
date stafT for more recently awarded externally funded
projccts. o

Plant growth faciites are an miegral pan of plant
research. and over the past 1wenty vears a comprehen-
sive range of glasshouses, shadchouscs. ficld ‘poly-
houses'. bird-proof cnclosurcs. and a modern potiing-
shed have been built near (he Northfield Laboratories.
Although mos( have been commercially erecied. a sig-
nificant proportion of (he (acilities. especially those for
(emporary use. have been built by the siaff. These lacil-
ities share a 5 ha site. wesl of the laboratories. with
storage sheds needed 1o service field plot research both
al Northficld and on research sites on farms throughout
the State. Recent busldings include a quarantine nsec-
tary and specialist facilitics for the safe handhng, mixing,
and sworage of agricultural chemicals.

Excellent workshop facilities have been developed over
the years both at the rescavch centre and at the labora-
tories. Many officers. following graduation, have been
introduced to the realitics of research by being shown
how (o weld and then being given an assortment of steel
to construct their own rescarch equipment. Specialized
(illage. seeding. threshing, and small seeds harvesting
units have been built at Northfield. Other eguipment
has included a mobile rainfall simulator. experimental
pig-feeding equipment. farrowing pens. a formaldchyde
applicator for silage production. alkali hay treatment
equipment, and a front-end loader grab for large fodder
rolls. The development of this equipment indicates the
imgenuity and self-help which have characterized research
and technica) s1afl” at Northfield.

The stafl have sought to develop a pleasing ¢nviron-
ment in which 10 work, designing and ins(alling atirac-
tively landscaped gardens at cach of the main locauons.
A major contribution was made by members of the

2 gquisition of | Aubricited §c-oolrovmy 1S cncompasseld within DA ES3/
6% and DA 15368 101

Mroposals t transfur Lewie Fly Lragication Unit to Northhicld (DA 13 73

v

>

Chairmast. Tast End Marker Relocation Cummitiee recomimeiicing g 80«
acre s south of Steatimont Contre tois 4 Nuits market, 29 Seanwmbe 1975
(DA 1666)73)

Recommendation Iy Public Service Board er that all head-
quarlers stafl he tninaterred 1o Noriield except for irg of 1en olficers
serviing arntd! quarsatine nspechon, East End Marset i peclion. and an
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Women's Agricultural Burean when, on 9 June 1967,
they planted a grove of trees west of the main labora-
tories. These trees. cighteen years later, have become an
attractive recreation area for staff and visitors alike.

OTHER PLANS

The development of any major complex is likely to
involve the preparation of a variety of plans which for
one reason or anolher do not proceed. There have been
several proposals for Norihfield, t00. which were not
implemented. Early plans included wransferring the Fruil
Fly Eradication Unit from the Glenside water-tower (0
a Northheld site facing Lord Howe Avenue.?” [1 was
laler moved (0 Prospect, but i1 is possible 1hat this unit
may once again be considered for Northfield when the
dary research centre is moved to (he Adelaide Hills.

Prcliminary plans (o build a Rural Youth complex at
Northfield were prepared in 1970, bul did not procecd.
[n 1975 proposals were advanced 10 erect a wholesale
fruit and vegetable market a1 Northfield* but these were
also abandoned.

The development of Northfield could have been sig-
nificantly influenced by (he recommendation in 966
that the entire Department of Agriculiure head office
should be moved 10 Northfield.> This was a revivat of
the proposal considered in 1938, Plans were prepared.
the project was approved by the Public Works Com-
mittee.™ and specifications to tender call stage had been
completed in 1973 when it was announced that a new
city would be built at Monarto. The Department of
Agriculture was one of the departmentis to be considered
for relocation.?? Neither the proposal to (ransfer to
Northfield. nor the move (0 Monarto, proceeded further
and. in the meantime. the Depariment’s head office was
moved 1o the Grenfell Centre in Adelaide.

Throughout the development of Northfield there has
been a strong esprit de corps among the staff. The South
Australian Government. rural industries. and the st
have crealed a research facility in which it is a pleasure
to work. In consequence. the research programmes that
have been developed have brought significant benefits
to South Australian rural producers and 1o the State’s
economy. The papers which follow give details of this
research.

Adeli ¢ eaterr noalfive e ormary pradocers and for urban residents

with home zarden @and poultry inquises, 29 April 1966 (DA 847/63)

Minue, Dircctor of Agriculture @ Minister of Agricubiure, 30 March 1971

(DA §47/63).

Y Headgoaners buildings, Narthlield, designed by Cheesman, Dofey. Neigh-
bour, & Rafea (PR 344/69: DA 1313/71),

1 Submissivn by Chaicman, Public Seivice Board, to Cabinet. 27 July 1973
(MA 4373,



